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Jesse Chennells   1821 – 1902  

A distinguished resident of 19th century Wheathampstead  

 

In October 2017, a small group of volunteers cleared the undergrowth in front of the United 

Church on Brewhouse Hill. Originally a Congregational Church, it became the United 

Reformed Church in 1972 when the Congregationalists merged with the Presbyterians and 

the United Church in 2007 when it merged with the Folly Methodists. 

    

  Before      After 

This work revealed a number of gravestones, one of which was that of Jesse Chennells.  

 

Inscription 

In loving memory of Jesse Chennells, who went to sleep 
in Jesus June 21 1902 aged 81 years 
 ‘Safe in his father’s home’. 
 

also William George, eldest son of the above, who 
departed this life April 11 1897 aged 45 years 
‘Thy will be done’. 
 

also Lelia Maud Chennells, died November 5 1897 
(NB. The year is wrong. She died in 1878. See p.3.) 
 

 

Jesse Chennells, a member of a long-established local family, was born in Wheathampstead 

in 1821, eldest of the six sons of Amelia and William Chennells of Town Farm which in 1841 

Amelia (by then a widow) rented from the owner, Charles Benet Drake Garrard of Lamer. 

The other five brothers were named George, Adam, William, Thomas and John, who was 

the youngest and born in 1830. The family were devout Congregationalists. 
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In 1848, at the age of 27, Jesse married Phillis Gray who was 22 years of age. The 1841 

census shows that Phillis, then aged 15, was living in Bury Green, Wheathampstead, in a 

household of six, none of whom appear to have been related to her. She may have been 

working as a straw plaiter but the census is indistinct. 

The 1851 census shows Jesse (29) and Phillis (24) living in Marylebone, London with their 

first child, Jesse junior. The census says that Jesse junior was seven years old, which 

suggests that he was born before the marriage. Jesse senior’s occupation is described as 

‘London City Missionary; 3,120’.  

A second son, William, was born in 1852 and Phillis Amelia, their first daughter, in 1853 but 

the records show that she and Jesse junior both died in June 1856, their deaths being 

registered in Barnet. They may have been victims of the diphtheria epidemic of 1855-1857. 

A third son, also named Jesse, was born in 1857, then Edwin in 1859 and Albert in 1860. 

By 1861, the family had moved to Green Lanes in Tottenham and Jesse was working as a 

master butcher employing two boys. His brother George, now a baker and confectioner, was 

living with the family. 

Phillis died in June 1861 at the early age of 32. She was buried at the United Reformed 

Church in Barnet. 

The 1861 census shows a young woman, Charlotte Paul from Sandridge, visiting the 

household in Brewhouse Hill of Thomas Seabrook, cordwainer, who was also a 

Congregationalist. Perhaps she caught Jesse’s eye because she and Jesse married in 

Edmonton in June 1862, when she was about 27 years old compared with his 41. Charlotte’s 

father William was a carpenter in Sandridge. 

Their daughter Louisa was born in 1863, Arthur in 1864, then Kate in 1866, Frederick in 

1868, Thomas in 1870, Lelia in 1871, Minnie in 1873, Edgar in 1875, Walter in 1877, 

Charlotte in 1879 and Lionel in 1881. 

Amelia Chennells died in 1867. Probate was granted to Jesse. 

 

In 1868, Charlotte’s father William, now described as a builder in Sandridge, filed for 

bankruptcy. The list of creditors published in the Herts Advertiser on 13 June 1868 included 

Jesse to whom he owed £130.  

By 1871, Jesse and Charlotte had moved into Town Farm (shown in the census as ‘Town’s 

End Farm’) with six of the children. He was farming 90 acres and employing four men. The 
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minutes of the Congregational Church in Brewhouse Hill show that he was ‘readmitted’ to 

the Church in 1872 ‘having been away’. 

Lelia Maud, born in 1871, died in 1878. The year of her death is wrongly inscribed on the 

gravestone. 

For the rest of the nineteenth century, Jesse played an increasingly important part in village 

life and was often mentioned in reports in the Herts Advertiser.   

 

 

Not all the Herts Ad reports were 

of happy events. For example, a 

report on 3 June 1876 recounted 

how Jesse was twice assaulted by 

one of his own employees. The 

offender was convicted and fined 

£1 with 16s.6d costs for the first 

offence and £1.10s with 16s.6d 

costs for the second. 
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In 1881, the Chennells family were still at Town Farm, now 100 acres, employing three men 

and two boys and with nine children (from Louisa through to Charlotte) living at home. Lionel 

was born on 20 May in that year. They were still there in 1891, with Frederick (22) working 

as a cabinet-maker and Walter, Lottie (Charlotte) and Lionel attending school.  

On 26 May 1877, Jesse was 

reported as giving evidence against 

a former employee who was 

accused of stealing a pickaxe, 

value 3s.6d, from him. A second 

pickaxe was involved but that case 

was not proceeded with. The 

accused pleaded guilty and was 

sentenced to one month’s 

imprisonment with hard labour. 

This sentence contrasts with the 

fines that were levied in the earlier 

case of assault, perhaps reflecting 

the priorities of the courts of that 

time.   
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This photograph of the family standing outside Town Farm is said to have been taken in 

1891 on the occasion of Louisa’s wedding. Jesse is standing by the fence. 

 

 

By now, the Chennells family 

were playing an active part in the 

work of the Congregational 

Church, including helping with a 

bazaar that was organised in 

1881 to raise funds to pay off the 

debt for the new church that had 

been opened in 1877, replacing 

the original chapel opened in 

1815.   
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The next story, dated 17 September 1887, shows that Jesse had been elected to chair a 

Vestry meeting to discuss problems with the sewage works that had opened in The Meads 

at the end of East Lane in 1876. There had been an outbreak of scarlet fever in the houses 

in East Lane, a disease which was ‘often attributed to drinking impure water’. About a 

hundred ‘gentlemen’ attended the meeting, including such notable figures as George 

Titmuss and William Thrale. The meeting decided that, rather than spend £100 on a new 

donkey pumping-engine to ensure the flow of treated water to the river, £30 should be spent 

on improving the existing arrangements by using ‘more efficient chemicals’, improving the 

outfall from the filter beds, and using the existing underground gravels ‘for the purpose of 

assisting the filtration’. A new management committee was elected to oversee the 

improvements which would, it was hoped ‘carry the water into the river in a pure state’.   

 

In the same year, and in some 

subsequent years, Jesse made 

money by putting stallions out 

to stud. 

He celebrated Queen Victoria’s 

Golden Jubilee in 1887 with a 

party for 600 ‘young unmarried 

persons’ in one of his fields. 
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(continued) 

 

In 1888, Jesse organised a 

concert to raise funds for a 

family of orphans in the village. 

Several members of the 

Chennells family helped, both 

in organising and in performing. 

The Village Hall referred to in 

the report was the 

Congregational Church Hall 

which at that time served as the 

Village Hall. The report that 

appeared in the Herts Ad dated 

28 January 1888 goes on to 

give a detailed account of all 

the performances that were 

given. 

However, on 8 November 1890, the 

Herts Ad reported that Jesse had 

been seriously injured in an accident 

at Dead Woman’s Hill (now 

Sandridge Road, just north of the 

King William junction in St Albans). 
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Possibly because of the after-effects of this accident, Jesse and Charlotte left Town Farm in 

the early 1890s and moved to Gibraltar Lodge, a large house in Batford situated in what is 

now Batford Road which runs parallel to the Lower Luton Road behind the Gibraltar Castle 

pub. It was demolished in 1968.  

This photograph, taken in about 1895, shows Jesse (on the left with his hand on the railing) 

and his family in a classic pose as a Victorian paterfamilias. His wife Charlotte is standing 

behind him. The young man standing behind Jesse may be young Lionel. He died in October 

1900 and was buried at the then-Congregational Church in Wheathampstead; his 

gravestone was uncovered at the same time as Jesse’s. 

 

 

 

Despite having left Town Farm and 

moved to Gibraltar Lodge, Jesse 

continued to play an important part in 

the life of Wheathampstead, as shown 

by this report in the Herts Ad of 15 

July 1899 where he attended a parish 

meeting to discuss whether a rate 

should be raised to pay for a new 

Village Hall to replace the one at the 

Congregational Church, which could 

be used only for events that were 

compatible with Nonconformist 

principles. After lively discussion, the 

motion was defeated – nine votes in 

favour and 25 against. Those present 

read like a list of the great and good of 

late 19th century Wheathampstead. 
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Jesse died on 21 June 1902. In his will, he left just £55 to his wife Charlotte as sole 

beneficiary, which suggests that he had transferred the bulk of his property into a trust.  

Postscript 
In 1901, Town Farm was being farmed by George Russell (49), a native of 

Wheathampstead, and his wife Emma (50) with the help of their son Frank who was 17.  

In that same year, Chennells ‘Chemist and grocer’ shop was being run by Jesse’s youngest 

brother John (70) and his wife Annie (59). It was also the village post office. Their son Frank 

(24) was living at home and working as a clerk in the post office. This photograph must have 

been taken before 1908 because the sign for The Bricklayers Arms, which closed in that 

year, is still in place. It seems likely that the lady standing in the shop doorway is Annie 

Chennells. The site is now occupied by John Curtis Estate Agents. 

 

 

John Chennells died in on 31 December 1905. He is buried at St Helen’s Church.  

 

A Mrs Chennells bought the Hope 

Brewery in Wheathampstead as 

Lot 3 at an auction held at the 

Bull Inn in 1906. The brewery had 

closed in 1904 so Mrs Chennells 

must have bought the empty 

building. 

It seems probable that this was 

Mrs Annie Chennells though 

Jesse’s widow was still alive and 

living at Gibraltar Lodge. 
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In 1911, Annie Chennells, now a widow, was running the shop. Frank, now 34, was married 

to Stella (27) and was employed as the sub-postmaster. They lived at an address on 

Brewhouse Hill. He took many photographs in the village and produced postcards such as 

the one above.  

Annie died in 1914 and is buried with John in St Helen’s churchyard. 

Jesse’s widow Charlotte died in 1919, leaving an estate valued at £1003 18s 2d.  

 

Edgar Chennells died in December 1919 of influenza that he probably contracted while on 

active service in 1918. His name is inscribed on the village War Memorial. 

For more about the Chennells family in the 20th century, see ‘High Street Map’ in the History 

section of the Wheathampstead Heritage website at 

http://www.wheathampsteadheritage.org.uk/highstreet/highstreethistory.asp  Click on ‘John 

Curtis’.  
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